



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY JOURNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

# Shared properties and singularities of exoribonuclease-resistant RNAs in viruses



### Quentin Vicens<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Jeffrey S. Kieft<sup>a,b,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics, University of Colorado Denver School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA <sup>b</sup> RNA BioScience Initiative, University of Colorado Denver School of Medicine, Aurora, CO 80045, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 April 2021 Received in revised form 21 July 2021 Accepted 23 July 2021 Available online 26 July 2021

Keywords: Evolution Exoribonuclease Structured viral RNA element Virus xrRNA Xrn1

#### ABSTRACT

What viral RNA genomes lack in size, they make up for in intricacy. Elaborate RNA structures embedded in viral genomes can hijack essential cellular mechanisms aiding virus propagation. Exoribonucleaseresistant RNAs (xrRNAs) are an emerging class of viral elements, which resist degradation by host cellular exoribonucleases to produce viral RNAs with diverse roles during infection. Detailed three-dimensional structural studies of xrRNAs from flaviviruses and a subset of plant viruses led to a mechanistic model in which xrRNAs block enzymatic digestion using a ring-like structure that encircles the 5' end of the resistant structure. In this mini-review, we describe the state of our understanding of the phylogenetic distribution of xrRNAs, their structures, and their conformational dynamics. Because xrRNAs have now been found in several major superfamilies of RNA viruses, they may represent a more widely used strategy than currently appreciated. Could xrRNAs represent a 'molecular clock' that would help us understand virus evolution and pathogenicity? The more we study xrRNAs in viruses, the closer we get to finding xrRNAs within cellular RNAs.

© 2021 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction: xrRNAs as generic mechanical blocks to exoribonucleases	4374
2.	Encircling the 5' end: Different strategies for a shared feature	4374
3.	How unique are xrRNA ring-like structures?	4375
4.	Flavivirus xrRNA structures in context	4376
5.	A budding structure-based taxonomy of xrRNAs	4377
6.	Footprints of evolution?	4378
7.	xrRNAs within eukaryotic genomes?	4378
8.	Summary and outlook	4379
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	4379
	Declaration of Competing Interest	4379
	Acknowledgements	4379
	References	4379

E-mail addresses: Quentin.Vicens@cuanschutz.edu (Q. Vicens), Jeffrey.Kieft@cuanschutz.edu (J.S. Kieft).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2021.07.024

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding authors at: Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Genetics, University of Colorado Denver School of Medicine, Mail Stop 8101, Aurora, CO 80045, USA.

<sup>2001-0370/© 2021</sup> The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

## 1. Introduction: xrRNAs as generic mechanical blocks to exoribonucleases

The compact genomes of RNA viruses (max. 30 kb) are littered with structured elements [1,2]. Structured RNA elements are key contributors to all stages of viral infection and usually to pathogenicity. They are often used by viruses to manipulate transcription, translation, antiviral responses, and other cellular mechanisms [3]. Such elements comprise for example hairpin structures, which protect the 3' end and may affect translation [4], and pseudoknotted folds, which may start translation or alter the translation reading frame [3,5].

An emerging class of structured viral RNAs are the exoribonuclease-resistant RNAs (xrRNAs), which were first discovered in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of flaviviruses and plant viruses [6-8]. xrRNAs resist degradation from the 5' direction by





**Fig. 1.** xrRNAs across the viral phylogeny. (A) Relationship between viruses based on RNA-dependent RNA polymerase sequences (adapted from [13]). The five main branches stemming from a putative common ancestor are shown by colored boxes. Only relevant viral families are shown, the rest are symbolized as dashed lines. Color coding for the viral families: bold & black, contains an xrRNA; black, representative families within each branch in which xrRNAs have not (yet?) been found; grey, human pathogen closely related to viruses containing xrRNAs. (B) Schematic exoribonuclease-mediated degradation pathway. The xrRNA element blocks the exoribonuclease.

the host cellular exoribonuclease Xrn1 (or its homologs, like Xrn4 in plants [9]) and more generally by any 5'-to-3' exoribonuclease (e.g., bacterial RNase J1 and yeast decapping and exoribonuclease protein 1) [10–12]. Viral xrRNAs can therefore be viewed as a generic roadblock to directional degradation.

Altogether, xrRNAs have now been reported in at least three of the five major virus branches (Fig. 1A) [13]. Outside of *Flaviviridae*, but still within branch 3, xrRNAs have been identified in *Tombusviridae* and *Luteoviridae* [7,12,14] as well as in the Alphavirus supergroup [15,16]. Putative xrRNAs have also been proposed within branch 2 (e.g., *Potyviridae* [17]) and branch 5 (e.g., *Bunyaviridae* and *Arenaviridae* [18]). Overall, these findings highlight that xrRNAs are more widespread than originally thought.

Generally, xrRNAs are responsible for the production of certain subgenomic RNAs (sgRNAs), through partial degradation of the genomic RNA (Fig. 1B: these are distinguished from sgRNAs resulting from internal transcription initiation [19]). For example, in flaviviruses --where the sgRNAs are referred to as sfRNAs for 'subgenomic flaviviral RNAs'- sfRNAs act as noncoding RNAs that interact with the cellular proteome to alter antiviral responses [20,21], but the details of this remain poorly understood [11]. For some plant-infecting viruses, xrRNAs are located within subgenomic RNAs (sgRNAs) that encode proteins and these sgRNAs may therefore be translated [14,22]. In Tombusviridae, an xrRNA is similarly responsible for the formation of a non-coding RNA with translation regulation properties [7,12,23]. In Benyviridae, Betaflexiviridae and Virgaviridae, an xrRNA is sufficient to block Xrn4, leading in *Benyviridae* to the formation of non-coding RNA3 (ncRNA3) and RNA5 (ncRNA5), which are essential for viral long-distance movement within the infected plant [15–17,24]. Hence, xrRNAs may be important for producing or protecting a variety of viral RNAs with diverse functions; they are emerging as an important mode of viral RNA maturation and protection.

#### 2. Encircling the 5' end: Different strategies for a shared feature

The three-dimensional crystal structures of xrRNAs from several viruses within the flavivirus supergroup (Murray Valley Encephalitis Virus, MVEV; Zika Virus, ZIKV; Tamana Bat Virus, TABV) offer detailed insights into the molecular basis of exoribonuclease resistance [25–27]. They reveal that xrRNAs adopt a ringlike structure through which the 5' end threads (Fig. 2A). In all cases observed thus far, the ring comprises 15–16 nucleotides. Complex tertiary interactions including pseudoknots, noncanonical base-pairs, bound metal ions, and intricate stacking and hydrogen bonding schemes stabilize the ring feature. Some of these interactions form patterns that are specific to different xrRNA classes (Fig. 3; see next section). The resulting compact fold braces against the surface of the enzyme approaching from the 5' side, preventing further progression of the enzyme through the xrRNA [25].

The importance of a ring structure for blocking the enzyme is further supported by structures from xrRNAs outside the flaviviruses. Specifically, plant-infecting viruses from *Tombusviridae* and *Luteoviridae* (Fig. 1A), have xrRNAs with sequences and secondary structures that differ from flaviviral xrRNAs [12,25,26]. Although the crystal structures of xrRNAs from Sweet Clover Necrotic Mosaic Virus (SCNMV; *Tombusviridae*) and Potato Leaf Roll Virus (PLRV; *Luteoviridae*) did not capture the RNA in its active ring-supported conformation, a ring-like structure could be modeled that also contained 15 nucleotides encircling the 5' end (Fig. 2B). As in flaviviruses, this ring depends on the formation of a pseudoknot whose importance was verified by site-directed mutagenesis and via an infection system [12].



**Fig. 2.** Ring-like structures in RNA. (A) The ~15 nucleotides forming a ring around the 5' end are highlighted in bold and purple on the three-dimensional structure of xrRNAs from MVE, ZIKV and TABV (PDB ID: 4PQV, 5TPY, 7K16). See Fig. 3B for corresponding secondary structure cartoons. (B) 3D model computed for the SCNMV xrRNA. (C) Ring-like topology in the bacterial SRP Alu RNA (PDB ID 4WFL). (D) Helical packing leading to a ring-like arrangement within the SARS-CoV-2 frameshift stimulation element (PDB ID 6XRZ). The 5' end and strand directionality around the ring structure are indicated in all panels. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

The ring-like architecture in both flavivirus and plant virus xrRNAs requires at least one pseudoknot. In the flavivirus xrRNAs, the ring topology appears to be formed by interactions between a three-way junction and the 5' end, forming the PK1 pseudoknot (Figs. 3, 4). A second pseudoknot forms to "latch" the structure closed [28] (Figs. 3, 4). In plant virus xrRNAs, formation of PK1 (Figs. 3, 4) and the ring follows degradation by Xrn1 through the P1 stem, leading to the exoribonuclease resistant fold, as shown by Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET; [12]). A similar phenomenon of structural remodeling could occur within other xrRNA families, particularly when alternative pairing schemes are proposed, which may result in the Xrn1 halt site being located within a predicted stem (compare for example secondary structure predictions in [29–31]. In short, just like 'co-transcription folding' can occur as an RNA chain is progressively extended [32], progressive degradation of an RNA in the 5' to 3' direction can create 'co-degradational' stabilization of a specific structure. While these proposed folding pathways remain to be fully tested, they may present two different ways to solve the topological challenge of 'threading' a single strand of RNA through a ring.

#### 3. How unique are xrRNA ring-like structures?

Ring-like structures in xrRNAs beg the question as to how common these folds are. In fact, ring-like topologies have been previously observed in RNA structures. For example, double-stranded regions may form a ring-shaped super-structure, as in the packaging motor prohead RNA [33]. Ring structures are also appealing for synthetic biology [34], which focuses on the design RNA nanoparticle for disease diagnosis and drug delivery [35]. Such RNA rings combine several molecules, which is different from the situation in xrRNAs, where a single continuous section of an RNA strand encircles a single-stranded element. The resulting structure is "knot-like" and thus far seems unique to xrRNAs (Fig. 2A,B). The Alu region from the bacterial single recognition particle (SRP) shows a stunningly similar ring architecture to that of xrRNAs, but no RNA threads through the ring [36] (Fig. 2C). In the case of the SARS-CoV-2 frameshift stimulation element, a ring was proposed to represent a critical structural feature, but that ring is assembled from several parts of the RNA [37] (Fig. 2D). Additional evidence may be required to support a ring-like status for features



**Fig. 3.** Towards a structure-based taxonomy of xrRNAs. (A) Phylogeny within the Flavivirus supergroup, based on the NS5 sequence (adapted from [69]). Genera belong to one of three (sub)classes: **1a**, **1b**, or **2**. The position between P2 and P3 (orange circle) is a key discriminator between xrRNA (sub)classes of xrRNAs. NKV, no known vector flavivirus; TBFV, tick-borne flavivirus; MBFV, mosquito-borne flavivirus; ISFV, insect-specific flavivirus. (B) Cartoon representation of the secondary structure of xrRNAs from the Flavivirus supergroup. P, paired region; PK, pseudoknot; BT, base triple. (C) BT interactions visualized in the crystal structures of the xrRNAs from ZIKV (PDB ID 5TPY) and TABV (PDB ID 7K16). (D) Close up on the discriminating position (orange) in the ZIKV and TABV structures. (E) Cartoon representation of the secondary structure of an xrRNA from *Benyviridae*. Double arrow in panels B, E, F: Xrn1 halt site. Regions forming the ring as highlighted in Fig. 2 are shown in purple in panels B, E. (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

that essentially constitute tightly packed RNA. Whether the topology seen in xrRNAs represents a distinct and defining characteristic of xrRNAs remains to be determined as more xrRNA structures are solved, or perhaps similar features are identified in other RNAs.

#### 4. Flavivirus xrRNA structures in context

xrRNAs form discrete folded structures, which are often found in series in the 3' UTRs of many flaviviruses [14,17,38,39]. While these 'tandem' xrRNAs might initially seem independent and redundant, evidence suggests that the structural integrity of one can affect the function of the other [25,40,41]. This may be an important virological feature, as studies of the Dengue virus (DENV) and Zika show tandem xrRNA1 and xrRNA2 allow for a higher fitness as the virus cycles between hosts (such as mosquito and human) [38], where sfRNAs may play different roles. When two xrRNA folds are present in tandem, the pressure to maintain one of them may be relaxed to accommodate mutations that would be beneficial for that particular environment.



**Fig. 4.** Covariation of xrRNAs. (A) Secondary structure of subclass **1a** xrRNAs emphasizing the three-dimensional architecture [25,26] (32 sequences and models from [28,43]). Core features (P1, P3, PK1, BT and the discriminating position (in orange)) are horizontally aligned between panels A–C. (B) 3–D based secondary structure of subclass **1b** xrRNAs [27] (87 sequences from [43]). (C) Predicted secondary structure of class **2** xrRNAs (28 sequences from [29,31], with automatic improvement of covariation patterns using R-scape [70,71]). (D) 3–D based secondary structure of xrRNAs from *Luteoviridae* and *Tombusviridae* (55 sequences from [12,72]). (E) Predicted secondary structure of xrRNAs from *Luteoviridae* and *Tombusviridae* (55 sequences from searching the viral sequence database [73] using a published methodology [14,74,75]). (For interpretation of the references to color in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

How do two tandem xrRNAs communicate to couple their function? The most straightforward hypothesis is through a direct physical interaction. Consistent with this, small-angle X-ray scattering (SAXS) revealed that tandem xrRNAs from ZIKV, DENV2 and WNV have a defined envelope and thus may have a preferred relative orientation, but that they do not appear to be in intimate contact [42]. However, because SAXS envelopes reflect the populationally weighted average of the structural ensemble, more data are needed at higher resolution to fully assess the presence and nature of likely physical contacts between individual xrRNAs in tandem. Overall, these current data suggest that flavivirus 3'UTRs and sfRNAs are best described as a structural ensemble rather than by a single conformation [42]. This characteristic may be important for the virus, allowing alternative folds to be adopted in different environments or at different stages of the viral life cycle to coordinate different processes important for infection.

#### 5. A budding structure-based taxonomy of xrRNAs

Within the flavivirus supergroup where they were originally found, xrRNAs have now been identified and characterized in all genera of *Flaviviridae* (Fig. 3A) [11,30,39,43]. Initial characterization of these xrRNAs based on proposed secondary structures, conserved sequences, and the halt point of the enzyme suggested two major genera-specific classes [29], both organized around a threeway junction (3WJ [44]) and at least one pseudoknot [45] (Fig. 3B). The high-resolution structures of class **1** (from MVE and ZIKV) revealed additional tertiary features, including a conserved basetriple interaction (BT; Fig. 3B,C) supplemented with additional non-canonical interactions necessary to support such intricate folds. A three-dimensional structure of a class **2** xrRNA (e.g., within Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus, Langat Virus and Powassan Virus) has yet to be solved, but alignments of the conserved xrRNA features in both classes have been harnessed by a search algorithm for automatic identification of xrRNAs [46]. Overall, a taxonomy of xrRNAs emerges from the knowledge of their features at the secondary and tertiary structure levels [30,31,39,47,48]. By definition, the current classification for xrRNAs will be amended as more xrRNAs are discovered.

Specifically, class 1 xrRNAs are distinguished from class 2 xrRNAs on the basis of (1) their 3WJ configuration, (2) a longer distance between the regions forming the PK2 pseudoknot in 2, and (3) a longer P4 in 2 [29,31,49]. xrRNAs originally described as belonging to class 1 are now further divided into subclasses 1a (32 sequences, from e.g., MVEV, ZIKV, and DENV [28,43]) and 1b (87 sequences, from e.g., Culex Flavivirus, Cell Fusing Agent Virus and TABV [43]): (1) in **1b**, the P1 and P3 stems are shorter than in 1a, (2) characteristic non-Watson-Crick pairs in P1 are found in **1b** but not **1a**. (3) a P4 stem may not always be present in **1b**. and (4) the BT interaction tends to be U-A-U for **1a** but C-G-C<sup>+</sup> for **1b** [43] (Fig. 3B,C and 4A–C). Whether the BT interaction is present in 2 remains an open question. (Sub)classes 1a, 1b and 2 are distinct on the basis of bioinformatic and structural analysis; in the case of subclasses 1a and 1b this extends to distinct tertiary interactions beyond Watson-Crick base-pairing.

In addition, the region of the 3WJ between stems P2 and P3 (which comprises either a single nucleotide or no nucleotide) acts as a convenient discriminator between classes and subclasses (orange on Fig. 3B,D and 4A-C). A ~90% conserved C in **1a** forms tertiary contacts at the core of the fold (Figs. 3D, 4A); replacing it with a G or deleting it abrogates exoribonuclease resistance [25,26]. Conversely, no nucleotide is present at the equivalent position in **1b** (Figs. 3D, 4B) and introducing one leads to loss of resistance [27]. Hence, subclasses **1a** and **1b** achieve a similar fold and architecture with different sets of tertiary interactions. In class **2**, a highly conserved A is found at what is proposed to be the analogous location (Fig. 4C), which can be hypothesized to similarly support the architecture of the 3WJ, although this has not yet been visualized in a structure.

Overall, using the solved crystal structures (for **1a** and **1b** representatives), comparative sequence alignments, site-directed mutagenesis, and chemical mapping data (for all classes), we can hypothesize that all xrRNAs from the Flavivirus supergroup fold around a generally similar core (Fig. 4A–C). Locally, key interactions differ, leading to the classification into classes and subclasses, but globally, core ring structures are similar. **1b** is more compact than **1a**, while **2** presents a longer PK1, with additional pairing upstream of PK1 as well as 10–15 nucleotides within P1 (Fig. 4C) [29,31]. The hypothesis that xrRNAs fold around a common core remains to be validated through structural analysis. In particular, the three-dimensional structure of a class **2** representative would illustrate the role of the discriminating A between P2 and P3 and would indicate whether the conserved but covarying BT interaction in other classes is present in **2**.

The xrRNAs from *Luteoviridae* and *Tombusviridae* adopt distinct secondary structures from the flavivirus xrRNAs, with no central 3WJ (Fig. 3E). The crystal structures of *Tombusviridae* xrRNAs in an inactive conformation revealed a stem-loop structure with appendages so the apical loop 'falls back' to make contacts with an internal loop region [12] (Fig. 4D). These xrRNAs nonetheless form a functionally important and hence conserved pseudoknot (Fig. 4D). In contrast, the *Benyviridae* xrRNAs contain neither a 3WJ, nor a pseudoknot (Fig. 3E). The currently accepted secondary structure model for the *Benyviridae* xrRNA has two stem loops separated by a 10 nucleotide-long linker [15,17] (Fig. 4E). The simplicity of that arrangement does not account for the complex fold needed to block an exoribonuclease. In fact, the strong conservation of the first ~20 nucleotides neither supports nor disproves this secondary structure. More xrRNAs have been identified with even

more distinct predicted structures [18,50]. Whether these more 'exotic' xrRNAs form more distinct classes remains uncertain until their tertiary folds have been visualized.

#### 6. Footprints of evolution?

The presence of diverse xrRNAs in divergent RNA virus clades raises the question of their origins and evolutionary relationships. It seems likely that within the Flavivirus supergroup, xrRNA classes **1** and **2** evolved from a common fold, then the basic core structure supporting the ring-like structure diversified as new lineages arose. This idea is highlighted by the structures of class **1** xrRNAs, which showed variations within a similar overall fold [27]. Furthermore, these variations led to distinct subclasses based on diverged tertiary interactions [30,39,43]. However, except for class **1** flavivirus xrRNAs, we do not know what the active fold of xrRNAs looks like, which limits fully understanding xrRNA evolution. Solving the structures of xrRNAs from distinct viral families and lineages remains a key to determining how these RNAs evolved.

Likewise, determining how widely xrRNAs are distributed across viruses would offer a valuable reference for better seizing the evolutionary relationships between viruses. If the proposition that viruses have a common ancestor is correct [13], xrRNAs may represent 'molecular clocks' that would help us understand virus evolution and pathogenicity. xrRNAs may also have emerged independently in different lineages, due to the high mutation rates and effective population size of viral particles. Again, a full accounting of xrRNAs and their structures can inform this discussion. Whether, for example, xrRNAs from the Flavivirus supergroup and from Tombusviridae | Luteoviridae are related would be worth investigating. Similarly, searching the recently reported class of Jingmenviruses for xrRNAs ought to be informative, as they are more closely related to Flaviviruses than Hepaci-, Pegi- and Pestiviruses [51,52]. Unfortunately, currently available database entries for these viruses lack the 3'UTR sequences. Continuing to expand the catalogue of xrRNAs remains a necessity to increase our chances of finding how widespread these folds are.

Tracking evolutionary relationships from comparing xrRNAs could directly inform studies of structured RNA elements in human pathogens outside flaviviruses. Extensively studying xrRNAs from plant viruses for example from Benyviridae, Virgaviridae and Poleroviruses makes sense, as these viruses are closely related to Hepeviridae, Togaviridae and Coronaviridae (based on RNAdependent RNA polymerase sequences, Fig. 1A), which comprise human pathogens like hepatitis E viruses, chikungunya viruses, and coronaviruses. The chikungunya virus and coronaviruses possess structured 3WJ RNA elements with currently unknown functions [53-55], and the hepatitis E virus arose from recombinations of *Benyviridae* viruses [56]. Such putative elements could be systematically tested for exoribonuclease resistance, for example by transposing to viral sequences a genome-wide assay for Xrn1 resistance that was recently reported for a human genomic library [57].

#### 7. xrRNAs within eukaryotic genomes?

Up to now, xrRNAs have only been characterized in viruses. However, expecting xrRNAs in eukaryotic cells makes sense, because their ability to block exoribonucleases could be a desired feature for some cellular RNAs. In addition, eukaryotic genomes are known to embed viral sequences [58,59], which would then be passed across species through horizontal gene transfer [60]. Such sequences of viral origin could comprise xrRNAs. In fact, flaviviral sequences exist in host mosquito genomes [61–64]. For example, 68% of a reported unplaced 18 kb genomic fragment from *Aedes albopictus* (Foshan isolate; NCBI #KQ571998.1) are 100% identical to the complete genomic sequence of Dengue virus 1 (NCBI #AB178040.1) [64] (our own analysis using Blast [65]). Putative xrRNAs are found at positions 17807–17873 and 17880–17942 on the fragment. Whether these sequences are expressed and whether they are xrRNAs that can block exoribonucleases *in vivo* or *in vitro*, as well as their biological role, if any, are aspects that remain to be explored.

Learning more about viral xrRNA folds, their variety, and their evolutionary relationships better equips us to search for similar folds in eukaryotic genomes. Searching for xrRNAs both computationally and experimentally may lead to the discovery of folds with a quite different mechanism to block Xrn1 than their viral counterparts. Such structures could have arisen within eukaryotes without transfer from viruses. Alternatively, ring-like folds may be found within regulatory RNAs like long non-coding RNAs, similarly to folds which promote catalytic activities and which are also found in a variety of genetic contexts [57,66].

#### 8. Summary and outlook

xrRNAs are examples of viral elements that use complex threedimensional structures to usurp cellular mechanisms. Emerging detailed three-dimensional structural information gives deep insights into the molecular mechanism of these elements, and also allows for new interpretations of biochemical, virological and phylogenetic information. We are now in a position to better explore how widespread and diverse xrRNAs are, and how they are evolving. Doing so has the potential to illuminate the biology of diverse but evolutionarily related viruses, expand our overall knowledge of RNA structure in the viral world, and motivate futures studies into the roles of xrRNAs in virus-induced disease. Because xrRNAs are found in all major superfamilies of RNA viruses, they may represent an ancient feature that existed in the common ancestor to these superfamilies [67,68]. Active xrRNAs could also be found in cells, where they may have other functions in addition to blocking exoribonucleases.

#### **CRediT** authorship contribution statement

**Quentin Vicens:** Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **Jeffrey S. Kieft:** Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Writing - review & editing.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors thank David Gilmer and Matt Szucs for critical reading of the manuscript, as well as current and former Kieft Lab members for thoughtful discussions. This work was supported by NIH grants R21AI157244 (Q.V. & J.S.K.), and R01AI133348 (J.S. K.).

#### References

- Watts JM, Dang KK, Gorelick RJ, Leonard CW, Bess Jr JW, Swanstrom R, et al. Architecture and secondary structure of an entire HIV-1 RNA genome. Nature 2009;460(7256):711-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08237</u>.
- [2] Huber RG, Lim XN, Ng WC, Sim AYL, Poh HX, Shen Y, et al. Structure mapping of dengue and Zika viruses reveals functional long-range interactions. Nat Commun 2019;10:1408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09391-8</u>.

- Jaafar ZA, Kieft JS. Viral RNA structure-based strategies to manipulate translation. Nat Rev Microbiol 2019;17(2):110–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41579-018-0117-x</u>.
- [4] Cross ST, Michalski D, Miller MR, Wilusz J. RNA regulatory processes in RNA virus biology. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 2019;10(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ wrna.v10.510.1002/wrna.1536</u>.
- [5] Giedroc DP, Cornish PV. Frameshifting RNA pseudoknots: structure and mechanism. Virus Res 2009;139(2):193–208. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. virusres.2008.06.008</u>.
- [6] Funk A, Truong K, Nagasaki T, Torres S, Floden N, Balmori Melian E, et al. RNA structures required for production of subgenomic flavivirus RNA. J Virol 2010;84(21):11407–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01159-10</u>.
- [7] Iwakawa H-O, Mizumoto H, Nagano H, Imoto Y, Takigawa K, Sarawaneeyaruk S, et al. A viral noncoding RNA generated by cis-element-mediated protection against 5'->3' RNA decay represses both cap-independent and cap-dependent translation. J Virol 2008;82:10162–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01027-08</u>.
- [8] Pijlman GP, Funk A, Kondratieva N, Leung J, Torres S, van der Aa L, et al. A highly structured, nuclease-resistant, noncoding RNA produced by flaviviruses is required for pathogenicity. Cell Host Microbe 2008;4(6):579–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2008.10.007</u>.
- [9] Nagarajan VK, Jones CI, Newbury SF, Green PJ. XRN 5'→3' exoribonucleases: structure, mechanisms and functions. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1829(6-7):590-603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.bbagrm.2013.03.005</u>.
- [10] Clarke BD, Roby JA, Slonchak A, Khromykh AA. Functional non-coding RNAs derived from the flavivirus 3' untranslated region. Virus Res 2015;206:53–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2015.01.026</u>.
- [11] Slonchak A, Khromykh AA. Subgenomic flaviviral RNAs: What do we know after the first decade of research. Antiviral Res 2018;159:13–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.antiviral.2018.09.006</u>.
- [12] Steckelberg A-L, Akiyama BM, Costantino DA, Sit TL, Nix JC, Kieft JS. A folded viral noncoding RNA blocks host cell exoribonucleases through a conformationally dynamic RNA structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2018;115 (25):6404–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1802429115</u>.
- [13] Wolf YI, Kazlauskas D, Iranzo J, Lucía-Sanz A, Kuhn JH, Krupovic M, et al. Origins and evolution of the global RNA virome. MBio 2018;9(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02329-18</u>.
- [14] Steckelberg A-L, Vicens Q, Kieft JS, Idnurm A, Butcher S, Miller WA. Exoribonuclease-Resistant RNAs exist within both coding and noncoding subgenomic RNAs. MBio 2018;9(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02461-18</u>.
- [15] Peltier C, Klein E, Hleibieh K, D'Alonzo M, Hammann P, Bouzoubaa S, et al. Beet necrotic yellow vein virus subgenomic RNA3 is a cleavage product leading to stable non-coding RNA required for long-distance movement. J Gen Virol 2012;93:1093–102. 10.1099/vir.0.039685-0.
- [16] Flobinus A, Chevigny N, Charley P, Seissler T, Klein E, Bleykasten-Grosshans C, et al. Beet necrotic yellow vein virus noncoding RNA production depends on a 5'→3' xrn exoribonuclease activity. Viruses 2018;10(3):137. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/v10030137</u>.
- [17] Dilweg IW, Gultyaev AP, Olsthoorn RC. Structural features of an Xrn1-resistant plant virus RNA. RNA Biol 2019;16(6):838–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15476286.2019.1592070</u>.
- [18] Charley PA, Wilusz CJ, Wilusz J. Identification of phlebovirus and arenavirus RNA sequences that stall and repress the exoribonuclease XRN1. J Biol Chem 2018;293(1):285–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.805796</u>.
- [19] Miller WA, Koev G. Synthesis of subgenomic RNAs by positive-strand RNA viruses. Virology 2000;273(1):1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/viro.2000.0421</u>.
- [20] Soto-Acosta R, Xie X, Shan C, Baker CK, Shi P-Y, Rossi SL, et al. Fragile X mental retardation protein is a Zika virus restriction factor that is antagonized by subgenomic flaviviral RNA. Elife 2018;7. 10.7554/eLife.39023.
- [21] Manokaran G, Finol E, Wang C, Gunaratne J, Bahl J, Ong EZ, et al. Dengue subgenomic RNA binds TRIM25 to inhibit interferon expression for epidemiological fitness. Science 2015;350(6257):217–21. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science:aab3369</u>.
- [22] Ilyas M, Du Z, Simon AE, Dutch RE. Opium poppy mosaic virus has an Xrnresistant, translated subgenomic RNA and a BTE 3' CITE. J Virol 2021;95(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/IVI.02109-20</u>.
- [23] Okuno T, Hiruki C. Molecular biology and epidemiology of dianthoviruses. Adv Virus Res 2013;87:37–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-407698-3.00002-8</u>.
- [24] Ratti C, Hleibieh K, Bianchi L, Schirmer A, Autonell CR, Gilmer D. Beet soilborne mosaic virus RNA-3 is replicated and encapsidated in the presence of BNYVV RNA-1 and -2 and allows long distance movement in Beta macrocarpa. Virology 2009;385(2):392–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2008.12.013</u>.
- [25] Chapman EG, Costantino DA, Rabe JL, Moon SL, Wilusz J, Nix JC, et al. The structural basis of pathogenic subgenomic flavivirus RNA (sfRNA) production. Science 2014:344(6181):307–10. https://doi.org/10.1126/science:1250897.
- [26] Akiyama BM, Laurence HM, Massey AR, Costantino DA, Xie X, Yang Y, et al. Zika virus produces noncoding RNAs using a multi-pseudoknot structure that confounds a cellular exonuclease. Science 2016;354(6316):1148–52. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1126/science:aah3963</u>.
- [27] Jones RA, Steckelberg A-L, Vicens Q, Szucs MJ, Akiyama BM, Kieft JS. Different tertiary interactions create the same important 3-D features in a distinct flavivirus xrRNA. RNA 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.077065.120</u>.
- [28] Kieft JS, Rabe JL, Chapman EG. New hypotheses derived from the structure of a flaviviral Xrn1-resistant RNA: conservation, folding, and host adaptation. RNA Biol 2015;12(11):1169–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15476286.2015.1094599</u>.

- [29] MacFadden A, O'Donoghue Z, Silva PAGC, Chapman EG, Olsthoorn RC, Sterken MG, et al. Mechanism and structural diversity of exoribonuclease-resistant RNA structures in flaviviral RNAs. Nat Commun 2018;9(1). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41467-017-02604-y</u>.
- [30] Ochsenreiter R, Hofacker IL, Wolfinger MT. Functional RNA structures in the 3'UTR of tick-borne, insect-specific and no-known-vector flaviviruses. Viruses 2019;11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v11030298</u>.
- [31] Dilweg IW, Bouabda A, Dalebout T, Gultyaev AP, Bredenbeek PJ, Olsthoorn RCL. Xrn1-resistant RNA structures are well-conserved within the genus flavivirus. RNA Biol 2020:1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15476286.2020.1830238</u>.
- [32] Frieda KL, Block SM. Direct observation of cotranscriptional folding in an adenine riboswitch. Science 2012;338(6105):397–400. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science:1225722</u>.
- [33] Ding F, Lu C, Zhao W, Rajashankar KR, Anderson DL, Jardine PJ, et al. Structure and assembly of the essential RNA ring component of a viral DNA packaging motor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2011;108(18):7357–62. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1016690108</u>.
- [34] Parlea L, Bindewald E, Sharan R, Bartlett N, Moriarty D, Oliver J, et al. Ring Catalog: A resource for designing self-assembling RNA nanostructures. Methods 2016;103:128–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2016.04.016</u>.
- [35] Guo P. The emerging field of RNA nanotechnology. Nat Nanotechnol 2010;5 (12):833-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nnano.2010.231</u>.
- [36] Kempf G, Wild K, Sinning I. Structure of the complete bacterial SRP Alu domain. Nucleic Acids Res 2014;42:12284–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gku883</u>.
- [37] Zhang K, Zheludev IN, Hagey RJ, Wu M-T-P, Haslecker R, Hou YJ, et al. Cryoelectron microscopy and exploratory antisense targeting of the 28-kDa frameshift stimulation element from the SARS-CoV-2 RNA genome. BioRxiv 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.18.209270</u>.
- [38] Villordo SM, Filomatori CV, Sánchez-Vargas I, Blair CD, Gamarnik AV, Nagy PD. Dengue virus RNA structure specialization facilitates host adaptation. PLoS Pathog 2015;11(1):e1004604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat. 1004604</u>.
- [39] Villordo SM, Carballeda JM, Filomatori CV, Gamarnik AV. RNA structure duplications and flavivirus host adaptation. Trends Microbiol 2016;24 (4):270-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.01.002</u>.
- [40] Pallarés HM, Costa Navarro GS, Villordo SM, Merwaiss F, de Borba L, Gonzalez Lopez Ledesma MM, et al. Zika virus subgenomic flavivirus RNA generation requires cooperativity between duplicated RNA structures that are essential for productive infection in human cells. J Virol 2020;94(18). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1128/JVI.00343-20</u>.
- [41] Chapman EG, Moon SL, Wilusz J, Kieft JS. RNA structures that resist degradation by Xrn1 produce a pathogenic Dengue virus RNA. Elife 2014;3: e01892. 10.7554/eLife.01892.
- [42] Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Liu Z-Y, Cheng M-L, Ma J, Wang Y, et al. Long non-coding subgenomic flavivirus RNAs have extended 3D structures and are flexible in solution. EMBO Rep 2019;20(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201847016</u>.
- [43] Szucs MJ, Nichols PJ, Jones RA, Vicens Q, Kieft JS, Diamond MS. A New subclass of exoribonuclease-resistant RNA found in multiple genera of flaviviridae. MBio 2020;11(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02352-20</u>.
- [44] Lescoute A, Westhof E. Topology of three-way junctions in folded RNAs. RNA 2006;12:83–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1261/rna.2208106</u>.
- [45] Peselis A, Serganov A. Structure and function of pseudoknots involved in gene expression control. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 2014;5(6):803–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wrna.1247</u>.
- [46] Zammit A, Helwerda L, Olsthoorn RCL, Verbeek FJ, Gultyaev AP. A database of flavivirus RNA structures with a search algorithm for pseudoknots and triple base interactions. Bioinformatics 2020. 10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa759.
- [47] Ramos-Lorente S, Romero-López C, Berzal-Herranz A. Information encoded by the flavivirus genomes beyond the nucleotide sequence. Ijms 2021;22:3738. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22073738</u>.
- [48] Dilweg IW, Savina A, Köthe S, Gultyaev AP, Bredenbeek PJ, Olsthoorn RCL. All genera of Flaviviridae host a conserved Xrn1-resistant RNA motif. RNA Biol 2021:1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15476286.2021.1907044</u>.
- [49] Schnettler E, Tykalová H, Watson M, Sharma M, Sterken MG, Obbard DJ, et al. Induction and suppression of tick cell antiviral RNAi responses by tick-borne flaviviruses. Nucleic Acids Res 2014;42(14):9436–46. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1093/nar/gku657.
- [50] Newburn LR, Wu B, White KA. Investigation of novel RNA elements in the 3'UTR of tobacco necrosis virus-D. Viruses 2020;12(8):856. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3390/v12080856</u>.
- [51] Ladner JT, Wiley MR, Beitzel B, Auguste AJ, Dupuis AP, Lindquist ME, et al. A Multicomponent animal virus isolated from mosquitoes. Cell Host Microbe 2016;20(3):357–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.07.011</u>.

- [52] Qin X-C, Shi M, Tian J-H, Lin X-D, Gao D-Y, He J-R, et al. A tick-borne segmented RNA virus contains genome segments derived from unsegmented viral ancestors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2014;111(18):6744–9. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1324194111</u>.
- [53] Schneider AdB, Ochsenreiter R, Hostager R, Hofacker IL, Janies D, Wolfinger MT. Updated phylogeny of chikungunya virus suggests lineage-specific RNA architecture. Viruses 2019;11(9):798. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v11090798</u>.
- [54] Filomatori CV, Bardossy ES, Merwaiss F, Suzuki Y, Henrion A, Saleh MC, et al. RNA recombination at Chikungunya virus 3'UTR as an evolutionary mechanism that provides adaptability. PLoS Pathog 2019;15(4):e1007706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007706</u>.
- [55] Wacker A, Weigand JE, Akabayov SR, Altincekic N, Bains JK, Banijamali E, et al. Secondary structure determination of conserved SARS-CoV-2 RNA elements by NMR spectroscopy. Nucleic Acids Res 2020;48:12415–35. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1093/nar/gkaa1013</u>.
- [56] Kelly AG, Netzler NE, White PA. Ancient recombination events and the origins of hepatitis E virus. BMC Evol Biol 2016;16:210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/</u> s12862-016-0785-v.
- [57] Chen Y, Qi F, Gao F, Cao H, Xu D, Salehi-Ashtiani K, et al. Hovlinc is a recently evolved class of ribozyme found in human lncRNA. Nat Chem Biol 2021;17 (5):601-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41589-021-00763-0</u>.
- [58] Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, et al. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 2001;409:860–921. https://doi.org/10.1038/35057062.
- [59] Tromas N, Zwart MP, Forment J, Elena SF. Shrinkage of genome size in a plant RNA virus upon transfer of an essential viral gene into the host genome. Genome Biol Evol 2014;6:538–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/gbe/evu036</u>.
- [60] Keeling PJ, Palmer JD. Horizontal gene transfer in eukaryotic evolution. Nat Rev Genet 2008;9(8):605–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2386</u>.
- [61] Vázquez A, Sánchez-Seco M-P, Palacios G, Molero F, Reyes N, Ruiz S, et al. Novel flaviviruses detected in different species of mosquitoes in Spain. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis 2012;12(3):223-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2011.0687</u>.
- [62] Roiz D, Vázquez A, Seco M, Tenorio A, Rizzoli A. Detection of novel insect flavivirus sequences integrated in Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae) in Northern Italy. Virol | 2009;6(1):93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-6-93</u>.
- [63] Crochu S, Cook S, Attoui H, Charrel RN, De Chesse R, Belhouchet M, et al. Sequences of flavivirus-related RNA viruses persist in DNA form integrated in the genome of Aedes spp. mosquitoes. J Gen Virol 2004;85:1971–80. 10.1099/ vir.0.79850-0.
- [64] Chen X-G, Jiang X, Gu J, Xu M, Wu Y, Deng Y, et al. Genome sequence of the Asian Tiger mosquito, Aedes albopictus, reveals insights into its biology, genetics, and evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2015;112:E5907–15. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1516410112</u>.
- [65] Boratyn GM, Camacho C, Cooper PS, Coulouris G, Fong A, Ma N, et al. BLAST: a more efficient report with usability improvements. Nucleic Acids Res 2013;41: W29-33. 10.1093/nar/gkt282.
- [66] Lee ER, Baker JL, Weinberg Z, Sudarsan N, Breaker RR. An allosteric self-splicing ribozyme triggered by a bacterial second messenger. Science 2010;329 (5993):845–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science:1190713</u>.
- [67] Koonin EV, Dolja VV, Krupovic M. Origins and evolution of viruses of eukaryotes: The ultimate modularity. Virology 2015;479–480:2–25. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.virol.2015.02.039</u>.
- [68] Krupovic M, Dolja VV, Koonin EV. Origin of viruses: primordial replicators recruiting capsids from hosts. Nat Rev Microbiol 2019;17(7):449–58. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0205-6</u>.
- [69] Simmonds P, Becher P, Bukh J, Gould EA, Meyers G, Monath T, et al. ICTV virus taxonomy profile: flaviviridae. J Gen Virol 2017;98:2–3. 10.1099/jgv.0.000672.
- [70] Rivas E, Clements J, Eddy SR. A statistical test for conserved RNA structure shows lack of evidence for structure in lncRNAs. Nat Methods 2017;14 (1):45–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.4066.
- [71] Rivas E, Schlick T. RNA structure prediction using positive and negative evolutionary information. PLoS Comput Biol 2020;16(10):e1008387. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008387</u>.
- [72] Steckelberg A-L, Vicens Q, Costantino DA, Nix JC, Kieft JS. The crystal structure of a Polerovirus exoribonuclease-resistant RNA shows how diverse sequences are integrated into a conserved fold. RNA 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1261/ rna.076224.120</u>.
- [73] Sayers EW, Cavanaugh M, Clark K, Pruitt KD, Schoch CL, Sherry ST, et al. GenBank. Nucleic Acids Res 2021;49:D92–6. 10.1093/nar/gkaa1023.
- [74] Nawrocki EP, Jones TA, Eddy SR. Group I introns are widespread in archaea. Nucleic Acids Res 2018;46:7970-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky414</u>.
- [75] Nawrocki EP, Eddy SR, Infernal 1.1, 100-fold faster RNA homology searches. Bioinformatics 2013;29:2933–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/ btt509</u>.